Texas CLASS®



Information Statement

May 2023



Table of Contents

Part One: Overview of Trust Agreement and Program	3
A. Participants' Investments	3
B. Trustees and Board of Trustees; Advisory Board	4
C. Duties of the Program Administrator and the Custodian	5
D. Investment, Payment, Valuation Procedures	6
E. Permitted Investments	7
F. Investment Risks	8
G. General Information Regarding the Trust	9
H. Portfolio Transactions	9
I. Program Information	9
Part Two: Investing Through Texas CLASS	9
A. How to Open an Account with Texas CLASS and/or Texas CLASS Government	9
B. Investments and Payments	10
C. Reports to Participants	10
D. Identity of Advisors	10

No person or entity has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this Information Statement. If given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by Texas CLASS, its Board of

Trustees, the Investment Advisor, or any agent of Texas CLASS or the Board of Trustees.

Each potential Participant is given a copy of the Trust Agreement and this Information Statement before becoming a Participant in Texas CLASS. This Information Statement contains a summary of the Trust Agreement. This summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Trust Agreement. All potential Participants are encouraged to read the Trust Agreement in its entirety for more complete information regarding the program.

Additional information that is a required part of this Information Statement is included in the monthly Program Statements furnished to each Participant. The Information Statement will be updated through supplemental material and may only be used if it is accompanied by such information.



Part One: Overview of Trust Agreement and Program

Part I of this Information Statement contains certain information about the operation and policies of Texas Cooperative Liquid Assets Securities System Trust (Texas CLASS). The parties to the Trust Agreement are Texas local government entities that choose to participate (the Participants), Public Trust Advisors, LLC as Program Administrator (the Program Administrator), and UMB Bank, N.A. as Custodian (the Custodian).

A. Participants' Investments

The purpose of the Trust is to establish one or more investment funds through which a Participant may pool any of its funds or funds under its control in order to preserve principal, to maintain the liquidity of the Participant, and to maximize yield in accordance with the Public Funds Investment Act (the Act), Section 2256.01, et seq., Texas Government Code, or other laws of the state of Texas, from time-totime in effect, governing the investment of funds of a Participant or funds under its control. The Trust Agreement is an agreement of indefinite term regarding the investment, reinvestment, and withdrawal of local government funds.

As of May 19, 2023, the Trust has two investment fund options:

- 1. **Texas CLASS** is an investment option that utilizes all eligible investments as defined by the Public Funds Investment Act. Refer to the Texas CLASS Investment Policy for a complete listing of eligible investments.
- Texas CLASS Government is an investment option that only utilizes investments that are backed or collateralized with U.S. Treasury or

U.S. Government Agency obligations. Refer to the Texas CLASS Investment Policy for complete listing of the eligible investments for Texas CLASS Government.

Except for their respective eligible investments, the terms and conditions are the same for each fund. Therefore, for the purposes of this Information Statement, the two investment options shall be referred to as the "Funds" unless otherwise noted.

Under the Trust Agreement, there are four general objectives of the Trust: (i) legality - investing only in investments legally permitted under Texas law; (ii) safety minimizing risk by managing portfolio investments to preserve principal, maintain a stable net asset value, and maintain the highest rating for the Funds from a nationally recognized statistical rating organization for so long as such rating is required by Texas law; (iii) liquidity managing portfolio investments to ensure that cash will be available as required to finance Participants' operations; and (iv) yield - maximizing current income to the degree consistent with legality, safety, and liquidity.

Eligible Participants are any municipality, county, school district, or authority created under Section 52(b)(1) or (2), Article III or Section 59, Article XVI, Texas Constitution, a fresh water supply district, a hospital district, and any political subdivision, authority, public corporation, body politic, or instrumentality of the State of Texas, any office, department, commission, board, or other agency that is part of any branch of state government, an institution of higher education, and any nonprofit corporation acting on behalf of any of those entities that has taken the actions required by Section 2256.016 of the Act and that has executed either the Trust Agreement,



a counterpart of the Trust Agreement, or a participation certificate. Any local government entity that becomes a Participant has the same rights and obligations under the Trust Agreement as other Participants.

Each Participant shall have the right to invest funds for credit to such Participant's account. There is no minimum amount that must be invested pursuant to the Trust Agreement nor is there any limitation on the aggregate amount of funds that any Participant may invest at one time. Similarly, each Participant has the right to request payment of an amount equal to or less than the amount of funds in the Participant's account from time-to-time. Subject to meeting the daily times for giving notice, which may be adjusted by the Program Administrator, there is no limitation on the period of time that funds may be invested through the Trust prior to payment. Upon receipt of any such request, the payment Program Administrator notifies the Custodian of the payment request from a Participant, and the requested amount is paid by the Custodian to, or on behalf of, such Participant no later than the next business day, subject only to certain calamities or crises that may affect the financial markets of the United States as specified in the Trust Agreement.

Any Participant may withdraw from the Trust Agreement at any time without penalty upon written notice to the Program Administrator who will notify the Custodian and the Board of Trustees upon receipt of said notice. The withdrawal becomes effective when the Participant's account is equal to zero. If a Participant breaches any material covenants contained in the Trust Agreement or if any of its representations cease to be true, it shall be deemed to have given notice of withdrawal.

Participant designate Each must representative to act for the Participant under the Trust Agreement for all purposes including the giving of consent and receiving notice on behalf of Participant. Pursuant to Section 2256.005 of the Act, such representative must be the investment officer that is empowered by the charter, ordinance, and any local regulation to direct the investments for such Participant. Such representative is not required to devote the representative's entire time to duties under the Trust Agreement.

Such representative shall be the official responsible for the investment of funds into the Trust and all payments made from the Trust for the Participant represented by such representative. In making investment and payment requests, each representative should use judgment and care to achieve the following objectives in the indicated order: (i) preservation and safety of principal, (ii) liquidity, and (iii) vield.

B. Trustees and Board of Trustees; Advisory Board

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the Trust is supervised by a Board of Trustees, each of whom is elected by the Participants. The Board of Trustees (the Board) supervises the Trust and its affairs and acts as the liaison between the Participants, the Custodian, and the Program Administrator. The Board administers the affairs of the Trust and enters into contracts and agreements on behalf of the Trust in order to effectuate the terms of the Trust Agreement. It also selects the consultants for Texas CLASS including the Program Administrator and the Custodian, subject to the terms of the Trust Agreement.

The Board of Trustees is selected at the annual meeting of the Participants. Any representative may be nominated as a Trustee. The number of Trustees to be



selected shall be determined by the Participants at said meeting and shall be an odd number of three (3) or more. The current list of Trustees is available on the Board page of the Texas CLASS website.

The expenses of each Participant to attend the annual meeting are borne by each Participant. The reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the Trustees incurred in performing their duties and attending meetings of the Board of Trustees are expenses of the Trust.

Pursuant to Section 2256.016(g)(2), the Board of Trustees has appointed an Advisory Board composed of Participants and other persons who do not have a business relationship with the Trust but are qualified to advise the Trust. The Advisory Board provides advice to the Board of Trustees and the Program Administrator about the Investment Policy, investment strategy of the Trust, and about other matters as requested by the Board and the Program Administrator. The current list of Advisory Board members is available on the Board page of the Texas CLASS website.

C. Duties of the Program Administrator and the Custodian

In order to facilitate the business of the Trust and in conformance with the Act, the services of a Program Administrator and a Custodian are employed by the Trust. The duties of the Program Administrator and the Custodian are specifically set forth in the Trust Agreement.

Subject to the supervision of the Board of Trustees, the Program Administrator is responsible for advising the Board concerning investments which appear to the Program Administrator to be advantageous to the Participants within the investment criteria set forth in the Trust Agreement.

The Program Administrator shall also implement, or cause to be implemented, securities transactions of the Funds on behalf of the Board and the Participants provide other investment and shall advisory services as called for by the Trust Agreement. Some of these services include the execution of agreements and other documents on behalf of and as agent for the Trust containing representations, warranties, and covenants common for such agreements and documents within the investment industry. The Program also provides Administrator portfolio valuation services. From time-to-time, the Program Administrator may propose to the Participants that the Participants establish specially designated subaccounts with investment payment procedures, fees, or other characteristics different from those set forth in the Trust Agreement. Such characteristics may include, without limitation, certain restrictions on amounts to be invested, holding period prior to payments, or certain other conditions to be met for payments such as possible payment penalties or additional fees for administering such specially designated subaccounts. In its sole discretion, a Participant may create any such special subaccount using the same procedure for other subaccounts. establishing establishment of such special subaccounts is not deemed to be an amendment of the Trust Agreement. Any subaccount that is created is subject to the terms set forth in the proposal of the Program Administrator until the terms governing such special subaccount are amended pursuant to the Trust Agreement.

The Program Administrator performs certain administrative functions on behalf of the Board of Trustees. These functions include maintaining records, assisting in the organization of the annual meeting of the Participants and the meetings of the Board, responding to inquiries and other communications with Participants, paying



expenses of the Trust, and engaging in marketing activities to promote participation of Texas governmental entities in the Trust.

Program Administrator fees are outlined in the Ninth Amended and Restated Trust Agreement with Texas CLASS dated February 25, 2021. The Program Administrator charges its fee on a sliding scale; the maximum fee is 12 basis points on assets up to \$1 billion. The full sliding scale of the current management fee is specified in the Trust Agreement available at texasclass.com/documentcenter/. Fees accrue daily and are deducted from portfolio earnings prior to recording of daily **Participant** investment results. The fee is paid monthly and may be waived or abated at any time in the sole discretion of the Program Administrator. The fee of the Program Administrator covers the following costs and expenses of program operation:

- The Custodian's fee
- Third parties retained by the Program Administrator to render investment advice
- Investment property recordkeeping expenses
- Securities clearance transaction charges
- Outgoing wire charges of the Custodian
- Auditor and legal counsel charges
- Preparation of monthly and annual reports
- Execution of Participant surveys and mailings
- Sales, marketing, and client service functions (including website maintenance and certain conference sponsorships)
- Valuation of the investment property
- Board of Trustee meetings charges

 The cost of obtaining a rating from a nationally recognized statistical rating organization

UMB Bank, N.A. serves as Custodian of the Trust. Among other things, the Custodian responsible for the receipt safekeeping of all cash, securities, or other comprising the cooperatively invested assets. Such assets are held for the benefit of the Trust in the name of the Custodian or its nominee. The Custodian also collects the income on investments and allocates it in accordance with the instructions from the Program Administrator and the provisions of the Trust Agreement. The Custodian is required to hold the investments of the Trust separate and apart from other property of the Custodian and assure that such property is never deemed an asset or liability of the Custodian.

D. Investment, Payment, Valuation Procedures

Specific investment, payment, and valuation procedures are described in Exhibits A through C of the Trust Agreement. Such Exhibits may be amended by the Program Administrator.

Exhibit A describes the time by which funds must be received by the Custodian in order to make investments on the same business day. Exhibit B provides the timetable for receipt of notice in order to make payments on the same business day.

As provided in Exhibit C, the Investment Property Value is determined on a daily basis by marking-to-market all securities using valuations from a credible pricing source. Alternatively, the Investment Property Value may be determined by using the amortized cost valuation method. This involves initially valuing a security at its costs and thereafter accrediting to maturity any discount or amortizing to maturity any premium regardless of the



impact of fluctuating interest rates on the market value of the instrument.

E. Permitted Investments

The Funds have been specifically designed for the use of Texas local government entities. Accordingly, the portfolios of Texas CLASS consist solely of securities in which such entities are permitted to invest funds pursuant to the Act. All investment securities purchased for the Funds, including those with repurchase agreements, are delivered to the Custodian and held for the benefit of the Trust and its Participants.

Home rule city and county charters may have provisions more restrictive than the Act regarding investments of their money, and such restrictions may not be compiled with the Trust. Any such restrictions are the sole responsibility of each Participant.

Texas CLASS Authorized Investments

Texas CLASS may invest in any or all of the legal investments specified in Sections through 2256.016 of the Act (referred to herein as Permitted Investments). Such investments may include the following:

- U.S. Treasury Bills, Notes, and Bonds
- Obligations of or guaranteed by U.S. Government Agencies and Instrumentalities
- State and local government obligations (subject to limitation)
- Certificates of Deposits of a state or national bank domiciled in the state of Texas guaranteed or insured by the FDIC that meet the requirements of the Act
- Bankers' agreements
- Mutual funds
- Repurchase agreements
- Highly rated commercial paper
- Guaranteed investment contracts

Texas CLASS Government Authorized Investments

Monies of the Texas CLASS Government Fund may be invested and reinvested only in investments authorized by the Texas CLASS Investment Policy (Section 6.04) and in Sections through 2256.016 of the Act (referred to herein as Permitted Investments). Such investments may include the following:

- U.S. Treasury Bills, Notes, and Bonds
- Obligations of or guaranteed by U.S. Government Agencies and Instrumentalities
- Stable \$1.00 NAV mutual funds
- Certificates of deposits of a state or national bank domiciled in the state of Texas guaranteed or insured by the FDIC that meet the requirements of the Act
- Repurchase agreements

The Board of Trustees has adopted an Investment Policy and investment strategy that further provide in which investment instruments the monies of the Funds may be invested and reinvested. The Funds may only invest in those instruments authorized by the Act. The current Texas CLASS Investment Policy is available in the Document Center of the Texas CLASS website.

No monies of the Funds may be invested in the following or in any other type of investment prohibited by the Act or other applicable law:

 Obligations for which payment represents the coupon payment on the outstanding principal balance of the underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and pays no principal (IOs)



- Obligations for which payment represents the principal stream of cash flow from the underlying mortgage-backed security collateral and bears no interest (POs)
- Collateralized mortgage obligations that have a stated final maturity date of greater than 10 years
- Collateralized mortgage obligations, the interest rates of which are determined by an index that adjusts opposite to the changes in the market index (inverse floaters)

No more than 5% of the total Texas CLASS portfolio (not applicable for Texas CLASS Government) may be invested in securities issued by one issuer. The maximum portfolio exposure to United States dollar denominated securities issued in the United States by United States branches and/or subsidiaries of foreign entities is 25% of assets.

All investments made on behalf of the Trust shall be made with judgment and care, under prevailing circumstances, that a person of prudence, discretion, intelligence would exercise management of the person's own affairs, not for speculation but for investment, considering the probable safety of capital and the probable income to be derived. Investment of funds shall be governed by the following investment objectives in order of priority: (i) preservation and safety of principal; (ii) liquidity; and (iii) yield.

F. Investment Risks

Participants should specifically consider the following risks before deciding to invest in either Texas CLASS or Texas CLASS Government. The following summary does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive of all risk factors. Investing involves risks including the possible loss of principal.

Interest Rate Risks

The prices of the fixed-income securities in Texas CLASS will rise and fall in response to changes in the interest rates paid by similar securities. Generally, when interest rates rise, prices of fixed-income securities fall. However, market factors, such as particular fixed-income demand for securities, may cause the price of certain fixed-income securities to fall while the price of other securities rise or remain unchanged. Interest rate changes have a greater effect on the price of fixed-income securities with longer maturities. The Investment Advisor will seek to manage risk by purchasing short-term securities.

Credit Risks

Credit risk is the possibility that an issuer of a fixed-income security held in the Texas CLASS prime-style fund will default on the security by failing to pay interest or principal when due. If an issuer defaults, Participants in Texas CLASS may incur losses. The Investment Advisor will seek to manage this risk by purchasing high-quality securities as determined by one or more Nationally Recognized Statistical Ratings Organizations and/or the Investment Advisor's credit research team.

Stable Net Asset Value Risks

Although Texas CLASS and Texas CLASS Government will be managed to maintain a stable NAV of \$1.00 per share, there is no quarantee that it will be able to do so.

Investment Not Insured or Guaranteed

An investment in Texas CLASS is neither insured nor guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other government agency.



Liquidity Risk

The Trust is subject to certain liquidity risks in which the size of a bond's market, the frequency of trades, the ease of valuation, and/or issue size may impact the Investment Advisor's ability to sell investments in a timely fashion or at or near fair value in order to fulfill a Participant's redemption request.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the value of securities owned goes up or down, sometimes rapidly and/or unpredictably, due to factors affecting securities markets generally or within particular industries.

Issuer Risk

The risk that the value of a security declines for a reason directly related to the issuer such as management performance, financial leverage, and reduced demand for the issuer's goods or services.

Default Risk

The risk that a bond issuer (or counterparty) will default by failing to repay principal and interest in a timely manner.

G. General Information Regarding the Trust

The intent of the Trust is to maintain a net asset value of \$1.00. However, there is no guarantee that a net asset value of \$1.00 can be maintained due to the risk of market price fluctuation. The Investment Criteria as described in Exhibit E of the Trust Agreement and the Investment Policy as well as the Investment Strategy may be amended by a majority of the Board of Trustees.

The Funds will seek to attain their investment objectives. However, no guarantees or assurances can be given that the Funds will achieve their investment

objectives or that any benefit described in this Information Statement will result from the placement of money in the Funds.

H. Portfolio Transactions

Pursuant to the Act, the Board of Trustees has appointed the Program Administrator to invest and manage the funds of the Trust. Portfolio transactions occur primarily with major dealers in money market instruments acting as principals. Such transactions are normally on a net basis that does not involve payment or brokerage commissions. Transactions with dealers normally reflect the spread between bid and asked prices.

I. Program Information

For the most current information on the Trust, please visit www.texasclass.com.

Part Two: Investing Through Texas CLASS

A. How to Open an Account with Texas CLASS and/or Texas CLASS Government

Any municipality, county, school district, or authority created under Section 52(b)(1) or (2) Article III or Section 59, Article XVI, Texas Constitution, a freshwater supply district, a hospital district and any political subdivision, authority, public corporation, body politic, or instrumentality of the state Texas, any office, department, commission, board, or other agency that is part of any branch of state government, institution of higher education, and any nonprofit corporation acting on behalf of any of those entities that has taken action required by Section 2256.016 of the Act (Public Entity) may join the Texas CLASS and/or the Texas CLASS Government investment program. In order to join either Fund, an eligible Public Entity must adopt the Trust Agreement through a majority



vote of its governing body. To obtain information on how to become a Participant, please contact the Client Service Desk at (800) 707-6242. Upon receipt and acceptance of such forms and any other necessary documents, the Public Entity will be a Participant of Texas CLASS and may make its initial investment of funds.

B. Investments and Payments

Investments in and payments from the Trust can be made by Participants on any business day using the Texas CLASS online transaction system. It is the responsibility of Participants to provide instructions to their respective banks to wire or electronically transfer funds to the account at the Custodian when contributions are made. Participants are responsible for any wire charges billed by their own banks. Custodian wire charges are an expense of the Trust.

For security purposes, only previously designated Participant officials may conduct transactions, and funds will only be wired to payees listed on the list of approved payees provided by the Participant to the Program Administrator in advance of the payment.

In the unlikely event that the online transaction portal is unavailable, Texas CLASS Participants may contact the Client Service team at (800) 707-6242 for further assistance.

A Participant may withdraw from Texas CLASS at any time at its discretion by sending an appropriate written notice to Texas CLASS.

C. Reports to Participants

Each Participant receives an annual report containing the audited financial statements of the Trust including a statement of assets and liabilities and a statement of operations and changes in net assets of the Trust. The fiscal year end is June 30 of each

calendar year. Each Participant receives a monthly report of its own account(s). Potential Participants are advised to review the financial reports for the Trust that are made available to them.

D. Identity of Advisors The Program Administrator

Public Trust Advisors, LLC is the Program Administrator under the Trust Agreement. Public Trust Advisors, LLC is an SECregistered investment advisor and is located at 717 17th Street, Suite 1850, Denver, Colorado, 80202. Its phone number is (800) 707-6242.

Auditors

Cohen and Company, a national accounting firm, serves as the independent auditor for the Trust and provides an opinion on the financial statements of the Trust in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

The Custodian

The Custodian is UMB Bank, N.A. with multiple offices in Dallas, Fort Worth, and other locations throughout the state.

Attorneys

Bracewell LLP serves as legal counsel to the Trust. The address of Bracewell LLP is 1445 Ross Avenue, Suite 3800, Dallas, Texas, 75202. Its phone number is (214) 758-160

Many factors affect performance including changes in market conditions and interest rates and in response to other economic, political, or financial developments. Investment involves risk including the possible loss of principal. No assurance can be given that the performance objectives of a given strategy will be achieved. Texas CLASS is not a bank. An investment in Texas CLASS is not insured or guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other government agency. Although Texas CLASS seeks to preserve the value of your investment at \$1.00 per share, it cannot guarantee it will do so. **Past performance is**



no guarantee of future results. Any financial and/or investment decision may incur losses. External audits may not catch all instances of accounting errors and do not provide an absolute guarantee of accuracy.

5/23 Managed by Public Trust Advisors, LLC

2435 N. Central Expressway, Suite 1200 Richardson, TX

T (800) 707-6242 | F (855) 848-9910

clientservices@texasclass.com

www.texasclass.com

